FILED
NOVEMBER 3, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 323145 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLINESMITH CATTLE COMPANY, INC., a Washington corporation: CALF CREEK CATTLE COMPANT, INC., a Washington corporation; J.W. HARDER LIVESTOCK, INC., a Washington corporation, and J.J.H. LIVESTOCK, INC., a Washington corporation, partners of HARDEN RANCHES, a Washington general partnership; HERBERT and DORTHY KENT, husband and wife; GLADYS KENT; TRUSTEE OF ALFRED R. KENT FAMILY TRUST; ALFRED J. OCHOA, a married man dealing as his separate property; and BAR U RANCH, CO., a Washington corporation, Appellants

v.

I. INTRODUCTION

On August 10, 2009, Respondent Kinch Farms, Inc. ("Kinch Farms") started a crop-clearing fire, a "controlled burn," on the edge of its land in Adams County. Prevailing winds soon blew the fire to Appellant Ochoa's adjoining property and burned a few acres before seemingly being put out. The next day, while Kinch Farms ignored it, the fire rekindled and burned up approximately 5000 acres of all the Appellants' (the "Neighbors") downwind crops. The issue at trial was, of course, who had to pay for the loss – the entity that started the fire and allowed it to spread, or the victims?

There was no dispute that Kinch Farms, the fire-starter, had a duty under statute, RCW 4.24.010 and RCW 76.04.730, to conduct its burn safely and keep the flames in check. And there was strong evidence that Kinch Farms had been careless and imprudent, for example by failing to ever check a weather forecast, or to post a watch on the second day, even though it well knew the risks. Despite this, the jury returned a verdict for the defendant.

The jury, however, was misled by erroneously admitted "evidence" that was actually legal argument in the cloak of expert opinion. Kinch Farms took advantage of errors by the trial judge,

over the Neighbors' objections, to have its expert witness effectively pre-instruct the jury on two key issues. First, the expert misled the jury to believe that Kinch Farms could delegate its duty of care to the local fire protection district (the "fire department") volunteer firefighters. That is not a matter of expert opinion, it is a matter of law, and it is not what the law says. Second, he misled the jury to the effect that Kinch Farm's compliance with the longterm environmental burn permit (the "DOE Permit") and the daily burn decision issued by the Department of Ecology ("DOE") was evidence of safety precautions. That too was a matter of law, and not what the law actually provides. These problems were compounded by a further error of the trial court, which refused to issue a curative instruction that Kinch Farms could not delegate its duty to the volunteer fire protection district. These cumulative errors robbed the jury – and the Neighbors – of a fair chance for a just verdict in accord with the facts and the law.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Appellants assign the following errors: ¹

-

¹ Appellants identified additional errors in the Notice of Appeal, based on the trial court's denial of summary judgment. Those issues are hereby withdrawn in order to focus on the primary errors of the trial court.

1. The trial court erred by denying Appellants' Motion in Limine (CP 302), which requested exclusion of the following:

Argument and testimony contending that the burn permit absolves or relieves Defendant from responsibility for any "hazardous, dangerous or negligent activities associated with the burn."

2. The trial court erred by denying Appellants' Motion in Limine, which requested exclusion of:

Argument and testimony that any actions of the volunteer fire department relieve Defendant of responsibility for any "hazardous, dangerous or negligent activities associated with the burn."

ISSUE AS TO ASSIGMENTS OF ERROR 1 AND 2:

Did the admission of evidence pursuant to the trial court's denial of Appellants' motion in limine mislead and prejudice the jury so that trial was unfair and a new trial should have been granted, where Respondent used the opportunity to misinform the jury that the fire protection district supposedly had sole authority and jurisdiction as to how to fight the fire, that the DOE Permit was issued based on fire-safety issues, and that the standards used by the DOE were relevant to the standards of negligence under RCW 4.24.040?

3. The trial court erred by refusing to give Appellants' requested jury instruction WPI 12.09 Non-delegable Duties (modified) (CP 470):

Defendant is not relieved of its duty to kindle and care for a controlled burn upon its property and to prevent it from rekindling at such time and in such manner as would a prudent, careful person, to prevent it from spreading and doing damage to other person's property by delegating or seeking to delegate that duty to another person or entity.

ISSUE AS TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 3:

The jury having already heard legal opinion 'evidence' that Respondent could delegate and did delegate its duty to safeguard its burn, did the trial court's failure to give Appellants' requested Instruction WPI 12.09 (modified) (CP 470) make the instructions as a whole materially misleading, and was that error prejudicial and not harmless?

- 4. The trial court erred by entering its Judgment For Defendant Kinch Farms, entered December 12, 2013 (CP 731).
- The trial court erred by entering its Order Denying Plaintiffs'
 Motion For New Trial, Reconsideration, And Amendment Of
 Judgment, entered on February 6, 2014 (CP 762).

ISSUE AS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR NOS. 4 AND 5:

Due to the above errors, individually and cumulatively, should the judgment entered by the trial court have been vacated and should it now be vacated, and a new trial ordered with appropriate

restrictions limiting argument and submission of evidence to the jury, and appropriate instructions given to the jury?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts.

Both sides moved for summary judgment below, and few material facts were in dispute – the parties agree on the basics of what took place on the ground, and what physical actions Kinch Farms took and did not take, and disputed whether Kinch Farms' legal duties under statute had required it to do more. CP-17 *et seq.*; CP 94 *et seq.*. For simplicity, the undisputed facts are here cited primarily to admissions at trial by Kinch Farms' own agents.

1. Kinch Farms started a controlled burn on a windy day.

On August 10, 2009, Kinch Farms set out to clear dense stubble and straw left over from its grain harvest in its 120-acre irrigated "circle 6." RP vol.IV 79:9-80:3. Although most farmers in the region have switched to safer methods of disposal, Kinch Farms chose to dispose of the stubble by setting it afire, a "controlled burn" as it is called in the industry. RP vol.V 65:12-22; RP vol.IV 66:15-24. As a precondition to the controlled burn, Kinch Farms had obtained its seasonal DOE Permit from the Washington Department of Ecology, which issues such permits pursuant to its mission to improve air quality. RP vol.IV 72:9-12; Ex. 8.

The DOE Permit is good for several months and does not purport to list specific dates on which burns will meet environmental standards; the permit-holder has to call the DOE on the day of the intended burn for that day's burn decision. Ex. 8 at 2. The DOE Permit expressly states that "[t]he party performing the burn is responsible for any hazardous, dangerous or negligent activities associated with the burn. The permitting authority cannot be held responsible." *Id*.

Kinch Farms prepared circle 6 by disking the perimeter of the circle and by deploying equipment (tractor, disk, water truck) and manpower composed of A.J. Miller, Joe Kinch and Rod Kinch, the principals of Kinch Farms. RP vol.V 19; RP vol.IV 66:25-68:19; RP vol.II 137:19-20. At or shortly after 9:00 AM on August 10, 2009, Joe Kinch called the DOE "burn line" and heard a recording that it was a "burn day" for DOE permit purposes. RP vol.V 19:11-20.

The controlled burn began between 1:00 PM and 1:30 PM. RP vol.II 160:6-9. As A.J. Miller acknowledged, Kinch Farms knew, among other things, the following: (1) Plaintiff Ochoa's Crop Residue Program ("CRP") ground lay downwind of Circle 6, separated only by the 26-foot wide gravel Sutton Road, (2) Ochoa's CRP ground had "a lot of fuel to burn," as much as Circle 6 did, (3) "pasture, CRP, other farm ground" lay beyond Ochoa's CRP ground, and (4) if the fire escaped there was a

danger of potential damage to the Neighbors' property. RP vol.II 153:9-155:7. Kinch Farms also knew it was likely that the wind would come up stronger in the afternoon, as it had every day that month and usually did at that time of year. RP vol.II 155:9-21.

2. The fire spread and was temporarily suppressed.

The wind did indeed come up that afternoon as usual, and around 4:00 PM the fire spread to one of Kinch Farms' adjoining circles, and across Sutton Road into Ochoa's CRP field. RP vol.IV 150:13-14. Kinch Farms immediately used its equipment to encircle and contain the fire, and called the fire department. RP vol.IV 90-91. Because the three principals of Kinch Farms were at the scene with their equipment, the fire was "mostly out" by the time the fire department firefighters arrived. RP vol.II 220:10. That day, the Neighbors lost only about 7 acres of Ochoa's CRP ground to the fire. RP vol.V 76:22-77:5.

The firefighters left before 7:00 PM, when they could see no smoke or flames. RP vol.II 75:3-5, 220:6. Fire Chief Dainty told Kinch Farms' representative to "watch it" and to put more water in the barrow pit, or ditch, beside the road. RP vol.II 220:11-22. The ash in the barrow pit had been too hot to touch, and was still a hot spot when they left. RP vol.II 103:8-24, 106:25, 111:5-6.

When the fire department left, Kinch Farms was aware that "everybody knows" that there was a risk of the fire rekindling. RP vol.II 229:21-231:20; *see also* RP vol.II 229:21-230:3. Kinch Farms also knew that "if there was going to be a flare-up, that [the barrow pit] might be the spot." *Id.* Despite this knowledge, Kinch Farms did not assess its independent duty to prevent rekindling and spread of the fire; there was no evidence that the principals even discussed what action was appropriate. Rod Kinch had already left before the fire department. RP vol.V 101:2-4. A.J. Miller concedes that Chief Dainty told him to "just watch it," without any specifics. RP vol.II 220:20-22, 227:3-4.

3. <u>Kinch Farms watched intermittently from a distance</u> without its equipment.

Without any specific plan, Kinch Farms 'watched' the danger site by doing a drive-by every few hours (without getting out of the vehicle), and A.J. Miller took a look from his house a mile away several times before going to bed. RP vol.II 227:20-229:4. Rod Kinch drove over again at about 9:00 am the next morning and looked for ten minutes, from his truck. RP vol.V 78:7-25. A.J. Miller drove by in his truck about 9:00 am and about noon. RP vol.IV 100:12-101:10; RP vol.IV 102:18-103:23. Miller and Kinch saw no smoke, but the evidence was that embers that do not produce smoke can still reignite a fire. RP vol.V 10:13-20. Joe Kinch

didn't go by the fire site at all. RP vol.V 32:24-33:14. Their equipment was back at home with them, not out at the site. RP vol.IV 105.

4. The fire rekindled and went out of control by the time Kinch Farms arrived.

With no considered or established watch or precaution against a rekindle and flare-up, the fire rekindled. Joe Kinch saw the smoke from more than a mile away, but thought it was probably just dust blowing in the wind. RP vol.V 33:3-14. He called A.J. Miller, who looked out and concluded the fire had rekindled and was burning Ochoa's CRP ground, called the fire department, and drove the water truck to the fire site. RP vol.IV 104:19-107:17. The wind had come up – strong. *Id.* Joe Kinch said: "on that second day, when it was blowing, when I got there, I remember it was blowing hard enough that, once I got to the tractor, I couldn't catch the thing." RP vol.V 27:24-28:2. In the time it took for Kinch Farms to bring its equipment back to the site, well before the fire department could get there, the fire went from a smolder to a raging fire, so out of control that A.J. Miller feared for his life. *Id.*

Had someone been there watching, with the equipment still on hand, as they had been the previous day, the fire could have been stopped again. Kinch Farms, not having a plan, not having analyzed the known risks, gambled one day of a watchman's labor, against 5,000 acres of the Neighbors' property – and lost.

B. Errors at Trial.

At trial, the Neighbors repeatedly litigated, including by motion in limine, the key issues of whether the DOE Permit or the fire department's intervention relieved Kinch Farms of its statutory duty – whether Kinch Farms could effectively delegate its duty of care to those agencies. CP 302-04. The trial court denied the motions in limine. SRP 22-23, SRP 32.

As a result, much of the trial was devoted to testimony, especially expert testimony, about the supposed authority of the fire department to take over the site and exclude Kinch Farms, and about Kinch Farms' supposed legal right to rely on the DOE Permit and the DOE's August 10, 2009 burn decision. Some highlights of this improper testimony follow.

Testimony of defense expert witness and former Fire Chief, Bill Steele:

RP vol.V 117

- 22 Q. And in your investigation, why is it
- 23 important to talk with the fire chief at the time of this
- 24 fire?
- 25 A. Well, specifically, the statute gives the

- 1 authority, the agency having jurisdiction is the fire
- 2 department.
- 15 Q. And also during your investigation, did you
- 16 have an opportunity to talk, confer, investigate the
- 17 Department of Ecology and their issuance of burn days?
- 18 A. Yes, I did. I contacted the conservation

- 19 district here in Ritzville and talked to the general
- 20 manager. I had a conversation about how Adams County
- 21 receives and issues the agricultural burning and they
- 22 advised me that the jurisdiction for the burn/no burn
- 23 line was with the Department of Ecology.

RP vol.V 119

- 13 Q. So, I mean, this seems to be very important,
- 14 but it sounds like in your past experience, you have
- 15 routinely worked with the Department of Ecology in your
- 16 capacity as a fire chief?
- 17 A. It is important, and the Department of
- 18 Ecology, since the Clean Air Act of, I believe, 1970 or
- 19 '71, when it was approved by the legislature, since that
- 20 time, the Department of Ecology has made a specific
- 21 effort to support fire department operations in their
- 22 effort to manage smoke intrusions and air quality.
- 23 Although their primary focus is air quality,
- 24 meaning good air for all of us to breathe, their other
- 25 focus or their other point is to support fire departments

RP vol.V 120

- 1 with their administrative rules, WACs that the Department
- 2 of Ecology has, to assist fire departments statewide in
- 3 enforcing burning regulations, fire safety regulations...

RP vol.V 121

- 5 Q. Was, in your opinion, did Kinch Farms
- 6 reasonably conduct or start an agricultural burn on
- 7 August 10th, 2009?
- 8 A. The first part that is important is that they
- 9 went through the process of applying for and obtaining a
- 10 permit from the conservation district here.

RP vol.V 128

- 22 Q. We've heard testimony that the Department of
- 23 Ecology is not concerned with fire safety. Is that true?
- 24 I mean, did you find that to be true in your
- 25 investigation?

- 1 A. That's absolutely not true. The Department
- 2 of Ecology is just as concerned about fire safety and
- 3 about public safety as any other state agency would be....
- 6 Particularly, the Department of Ecology would
- 7 be concerned about an uncontrolled wildfire....
- 14 And that's further, my experience further
- 15 tells me that the Department of Ecology assists fire
- 16 departments statewide on a routine basis for fire safety
- 17 concerns. They have a set of WACs and rules that
- 18 administratively they can go, I don't want to say go
- 19 after, but they can encourage compliance with fire safety
- 20 rules from the Department of Natural Resources or Fire
- 21 District 7...
- 25 Q. You keep mentioning the term WACs, and I

RP vol.V 131

- 1 believe that's a legal term of art. Can you explain to
- 2 the jury what a WAC is?....
- 5 WACs are generally written rules, and they're written by
- 6 the state agencies that are involved...

RP vol.V 139

- 24 O. Okay, in your experience, should Kinch Farms
- 25 have posted a 24-hour watch themselves on this burn area

- 1 on August 11, 2009?
- 2 A. And I understand that's an issue here, and
- 3 the answer is, no, and the specific reason the answer is
- 4 no is because it's somebody else's property. Where the
- 5 fire department has, the agency having injured, the fire
- 6 department can decide whether or not a fire watch is
- 7 needed and supply one of their members to, in this case,
- 8 the fire department would have had that jurisdiction and
- 9 the decision to do that or to not do that....
- 18 That happens on a regular basis with fire
- 19 departments if it is that person's land. Where this
- 20 issue becomes you are not the landowner, I don't, as a
- 21 fire chief, Chief Dainty doesn't, as the fire chief, have
- 22 authority to assign somebody else to be responsible for
- 23 somebody else's land. It's not appropriate.

24 He doesn't have the authority to do that

RP vol.V 141

- 13 In the scenario that we have here, the fire
- 14 department is, A, clearly responsible for the decision to
- 15 have a fire watch or not; and then has the authority or
- 16 the jurisdiction to assign one of their personnel or to
- 17 contract with somebody else, unless it is the specific
- 18 landowner that is there.

RP vol.V 145

- 3 Q. And, you know, Mr. Wruble opined that Kinch
- 4 Farms should have checked the forecast, but your
- 5 contention is that they did, with the Department of
- 6 Ecology burn line?
- 7 A. Well, yes. I believe they did based on using
- 8 the Department of Ecology's, the Department of Ecology's
- 9 National Weather Service Fire Prediction Report, to say
- 10 that it's going to be safe to do a burn today or it's not
- 11 safe to do a burn today.

RP vol.V 156

- 10 O. Okay, is it your contention that, because
- 11 they had met the conditions of this permit, they can't be
- 12 responsible for the escape of the fire?
- 13 A. Well, notwithstanding any other negligent act
- 14 that they may have done, not responding across the street
- 15 and trying to take immediate control action or something
- 16 like that.

RP vol.V 158

- 2 A. ... we're not talking about a
- 5 gust that lasts ten seconds or 15 seconds. We're talking
- 6 about a sustained, measurable wind, greater than what is
- 7 allowed in the permit. You would be obligated to stop
- 8 burning. You would be outside of the conditions of the
- 9 permit.

- 16 Q. Here's my question. When I say fire safety,
- 17 I am talking about a runaway burn that consumes the

- 18 neighbor's property. Are you testifying that that is a
- 19 concern of DOE?
- 20 A. I believe it is a concern of DOE's.

RP vol.V 173

- 2 Knowing that the forecast for Tuesday is
- 3 higher than what they just went through, does not the
- 4 reasonable man post a watch to make sure the embers don't
- 5 reignite?
- 6 A. That would be a determination made by the
- 7 fire chief, and the fire chief made the determination
- 8 that it wasn't necessary.

Fire Chief Brian Dainty testified similarly:

RP vol.IV 183

- 23 Q. And when you left the scene on August 10, 2009, did you
- 24 delegate any fire suppression authority to Kinch Farms?
- 25 A. Absolutely not.

RP vol. IV 184

- 8 When we're called out and activated by a paging system,
- 9 the fire chief now pretty much has control of their
- 10 ground, and it's his call on what needs to be done with
- 11 the situation at hand.

RP vol. IV 185

- 8 A. When -- my experience -- I've burned four or five
- 9 times, and my experience is when DOE gives you a burn
- 10 day, you take advantage of it. They're the experts
- 11 that know what the metrologists that want you to burn
- 12 at certain times, certain climates, certain winds.

RP vol. IV 186

- 15 But as a farmer and DOE, you got to flip your
- 16 hat around the other way. And if you want to continue
- 17 to practice your farming practices, then, DOE is God in 18 that book.
- 19 Q. So you rely on DOE?
- 20 A. I rely on DOE. They're the ones with the

21 meteorologists that determine whether you burn or not.

RP vol. IV 223

- 7 Q. Is it your belief that you controlled everyone there
- 8 including landowners or only the fire department?
- 9 A. Well, I control the firefighters. I usually don't look
- 10 at us controlling the landowners, but if need be, yes,
- 11 I have asked landowners to leave the scene on structure
- 12 fires for safety reasons. They were kind of
- 13 interfering, so I asked them to leave and I stated to
- 14 them that they relinquished that power to me when they
- 15 call EMS; and if they don't leave, I'll have to call
- 16 the sheriff's department...

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