STATE OF WASHINGTON, COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

CLINESMITH CATTLE COMPANY, INC., a Washington corporation; CALF CREEK CATTLE COMPANY, INC., a Washington corporation; J.W. HARDER LIVESTOCK, INC., a Washington corporation, and J.J.H. LIVESTOCK, INC., a Washington corporation, partners of HARDER RANCHES, a Washington general partnership; HERBERT and DOROTHY KENT, husband and wife; GLADYS KENT, TRUSTEE OF ALFRED R. KENT FAMILY TRUST; ALFRED J. OCHOA, a married man dealing as his separate property; and BAR U RANCH CO., a Washington corporation,

Appellants/Plaintiffs

VS.

KINCH FARMS, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellee/Defendant.

RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

EWING ANDERSON, P.S.

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

testimony, which is fatal to their appeal. See ER 103; RAP 2.5 (issue waived if brought up for first time on appeal).

Therefore, to the extent any testimony was improper concerning the fire department's actions after the fire was declared extinguished on August 10, 2009, said testimony was admissible because Plaintiffs opened the door to this type of evidence.⁵

E. The Trial Judge Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Allowing Testimony And Evidence Concerning The Department Of Ecology's Burn Permit.

1. <u>Kinch Farms' Actions of Obtaining a Burn Permit Showed</u> <u>Utilizing Reasonable Care Under the Circumstances, and</u> <u>Therefore Was Admissible.</u>

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing testimony and evidence concerning the Department of Ecology's Burn Permit.

Plaintiffs' contention that the burn permit process should not have been admissible is without merit. It was not denied at trial that the first step in conducting a controlled burn in Adams County was to obtain a

⁵ It is anticipated that Plaintiffs will argue they had to open the door because of the trial court's denial of their motion in limine. This is untrue. The Plaintiffs moved for an order prohibiting Defendant from arguing they were relieved of liability because of the DOE and/or fire department's actions. Defendant never argued this proposition during trial. Further, Plaintiffs' motion in limine was simply too broad and lacked specificity as required by ER 103 when dealing with the nuances of witness testimony. Thus, this position is without merit.

burn permit from the DOE. This required applicants to fill out an application. Once the applicant received a burn permit, they then had to contact the Department of Ecology to see if it was declared a "burn day."

Contrary to Plaintiffs' assertions in their appeal brief, Defendant never once argued that the burn permits and or a "burn day" declaration from the DOE relieved them of a duty to conduct a controlled burn in a reasonable manner. Instead, the trial focused on what weather conditions needed to be present for the DOE to declare it a burn day. Bill Steele opined it was reasonable to conduct a controlled burn with sustained wind speeds at 15 mph and that the DOE would not issue a burn day if wind speeds exceeded 15 mph. CP Vol. V, p. 139, lns. 1-25.

Testimony at trial further established that the DOE would not declare it a burn day if the winds were forecasted to exceed 15 mph. Joe Kinch testified that the DOE would explicitly inform landowners that it was not issuing a burn day because high winds were forecasted. CP Vol. V, p. 22, lns. 10-19. Rod Kinch confirmed that the DOE does not declare burn days when high wind speeds were forecasted. CP Vol. V, p. 68, lns. 1-4. To buttress this position, Defendant entered as evidence, without objection, a page from the DOE's own website that provided:

Agricultural burning is generally allowed if weather conditions are favorable. Under ideal conditions, smoke will rise several hundred feet, and winds will carry smoke away. Generally, under high pressure systems, smoke will stay close to the ground. Wind direction and speed are also taken into account when a burn call is made. High winds (above 15 mph) may hold smoke near the ground...

CP 136, Ex. 34. This exhibit further stated that the DOE reviewed weather reports prior to determining whether to allow burning. <u>Id</u>. And, importantly, a weather reporting station at Ritzville confirmed that the sustained wind speeds in Ritzville never exceeded 15 mph. CP 136, ex. 6.

There was no chance the jury would believe the DOE permit relieved Kinch Farms of liability. The burn permit provided: "The party performing the burn is responsible for any hazardous, dangerous or negligent activities associated with the burn." CP 136, Ex. 8. This exhibit further noted that individuals should "not burn during poor weather conditions such as inversions or strong winds." CP 136, Ex. 8. These provisions were highlighted by Plaintiffs in their case-in-chief. CP Vol. II, p. 184. With the permit language being read to the jury, it was clear to them that simply obtaining a burn permit would not relieve Kinch Farms of conducting a reasonable and safe burn. *See* Phelps, 68 Wn.2d 11, 410 P.2d 611 (presumed jury will objectively consider evidence).

Therefore, the trial judge did not commit an abuse of discretion in allowing testimony concerning the DOE and the permit process.

2. <u>In Direct Examination, Plaintiffs Opened the Door to</u> **Testimony Concerning The DOE Fire Permitting Process.**

During their case-in-chief, Plaintiffs' counsel, in *direct examination* of their own expert, Walt Wruble, elicited information concerning the Department of Ecology fire permit requirements.

- Q. And then were you able to arrive at opinions as a result of your investigation?
- A. Yes...There was approval given by the Department of Ecology; however, they're just general;--essentially general requirements and they're for wide varying areas by they make a requirement that there's no burning above 15 miles an hour.

Later, Plaintiffs' counsel asked Walt Wruble to explain to the jury how the Department of Ecology issued burn permits. Vol. III, p. 173, lns. 18-25; p. 174 lns. 1-25. During his direct examination by Plaintiffs' counsel, Mr. Wruble testified there were "no requirements for fire safety or anything else in the Department of Ecology permits." Vol. III, p. 175, lns. 1-2. Further, during direct examination, Mr. Wruble provided testimony as to how the Department of Ecology interpreted the Clean Water Act. Vol. III, p. 175, lns. 5-13. Under direct examination by Plaintiffs' counsel, Walt

Wruble provided testimony *concerning safety conflicts* between the DOE and the Department of Natural Resources concerning the issuance of fire permits. p. 175, lns. 19-25; p. 176, lns. 1-10.

Because Plaintiffs opened the door concerning the DOE permitting process, Kinch Farms was allowed to enter its own testimony and exhibits concerning the DOE and the circumstances needed to issue a burn permit. See State v. Gefeller, 76 Wash. 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17, 20 (1969). Again, Plaintiffs' counsel did not object to this evidence during trial, which is fatal. See ER 103; RAP 2.5 (issue waived if brought up for first time on appeal).

Therefore, the trial court did not commit an abuse of discretion by allowing testimony concerning the DOE into evidence.

F. The Judge Did Not Err in Refusing to Issue a Jury Instruction Concerning Delegation.

Plaintiffs are not arguing that the patterned jury instructions issued by the Court were misstatements of the law, and therefore, prejudice is not presumed. *See* Andfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860, 281 P.3d at 294. Instead, Plaintiffs appear to be arguing that the jury instructions were misleading because the Court did not issue a "nondelegable" instruction. Not only is

Plaintiffs' assertion false, but they have also failed to show prejudice.

Thus, Plaintiffs' contention must be rejected.

First, as outlined above, Defendant never argued that it had delegated its duty to use reasonable care to set, contain, or extinguish a fire to the DOE and/or fire department.

Second, the patterned jury instructions given to the jury properly informed them of the applicable law, and thus allowed Plaintiffs' to argue the theory of their case. For example, Instruction No. 14 provided:

Statutes in Washington provide as follows:

RCW 4.24.040:

If any person shall for any lawful purpose kindle a fire upon his or her own land, he or she shall do it at such time and in such manner, and shall take care of it to prevent it from spreading and doing damage to other persons' property, as a prudent and careful person would do, and if he or she fails so to do he or she shall be liable in an action on the case to any person suffering damage thereby to the full amount of such damage.

RCW 76.04.730

It is unlawful for any person to negligently allow fire originating on the person's own property to spread to the property of another.

The violation of a statute, if any, is not necessarily negligence, but may be considered by you as evidence in determining negligence.

CP 135. In addition, the jury was also given the pattern jury instructions on negligence and duty of care (Instructions No. 7, No. 10, and No. 11) which all clearly articulated the negligence standard to the jury. *See* CP 135. The general instruction on the parties' claims, Instruction No. 7, reiterated Plaintiffs' negligence claim, borrowing from the language of RCW 4.24.040:

Instruction No. 7.

The claims and defenses of the parties are as follows.

The claims of the plaintiff. The plaintiff claims that the defendant was negligent in kindling and caring for a controlled burn upon his property at such time and in such manner as to prevent it from spreading and rekindling and doing damage to plaintiffs' property as a prudent and careful person would do...

The claims and defenses of the defendant. The defendant claims that it was not negligent in starting or containing the fire on his property...

CP 135.

Importantly, all of the jury instructions provided to the jury were based on the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions. See CP 135. Thus, the jury was provided with clear instructions that properly informed them that Kinch Farms had a duty to act as a prudent and careful person would (a

negligence standard) in kindling, caring for, and preventing a fire from spreading.

Third, the trial court could have committed error by issuing a jury instruction on nondelegable duties, specifically, WPI 12.09. The comments to WPI 12.09 provide that nondelegable duties generally involve a form of vicarious liability. 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. 12.09 (6th ed.); see Prosser and Keeton, § 71, at 511; see also Jackson v. Standard Oil Co. of California, 8 Wn.App. 83, 95, 505 P.2d 139 (1972). This issue arises primarily in circumstances involving subcontracted work. See Jones v. Robert E. Bayley Const. Co., Inc., 36 Wn.App. 357, 674 P.2d 679 (1984), overruled on other grounds in Brown v. Prime Const. Co., Inc., 102 Wn.2d 235, 240, 684 P.2d 73 (1984); see also Keegan v. Grant County Public Utility Dist. No. 2, 34 Wn.App. 274, 283–84, 661 P.2d 146 (1983) (approving an instruction on nondelegability because work had been contracted out). In cases where subcontracting or vicarious liability is involved, jurors could speculate that the legal duty was transferred along with the work being subcontracted; hence, they would need to be instructed that nondelegable duties are not transferred along with the subcontracted work. "However, for cases that do not similarly raise questions in jurors' minds about potential delegability, the committee recommends that the instruction not be given" (emphasis added). See 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. 12.09 (6th ed.)

Importantly, and key to this Court's review, Washington courts have written that nondelegability instructions *should be avoided*. "[N]on-delegability" is a "formidable" word to use with a jury. Kelley v. Great Northern Ry. Co., 59 Wn.2d 894, 904-05, 371 P.2d 528 (1962). Nondelegability instructions are often not necessary to utilize in a case, as doing so could mislead jurors into thinking a nondelegable duty sets a higher standard of care than does a delegable duty. Cf. Strandberg v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 59 Wn.2d 259, 367 P.2d 137 (1961); Sage v. Northern Pac. Ry. Co., 62 Wn.2d 6, 16, 380 P.2d 856 (1963); Kelley v. Great Northern Ry. Co., 59 Wn.2d 894, 904-05, 371 P.2d 528.

The reasons for not giving the nondelegability instruction are particularly poignant in this rekindled fire case. As noted previously, fire cases such as this case are couched in the reasonable-person standard and not strict liability. *See* Criscola v. Guglielmelli, 50 Wn.2d 29, 31, 308 P.2d 239, 241 (1957). Giving a nondelegable duty instruction in this case would have couched the reasonable-person standard in terms of strict liability and

would have misled the jury, which has been Appellants' goal since the beginning of this case and as restated in Appellants' brief: "the issue at trial was, of course, who pays for the loss – the entity that started the fire and allowed it to spread and rekindle, or the victims...." This statement is a misstatement of the law. The simple fact that a fire spreads and rekindles on one's land, absent a specific finding of negligence, does not impose liability on the entity that started the fire for a legitimate purpose. Negligence must be present, and that was the real issue on which Kinch Farm's liability hinged, and on which Plaintiffs lost.

Even the case cited by Appellants, <u>Wood & Iverson v. Wilson</u>, did not base its holding on "nondelegable duties" or jury instructions regarding such duties, but on the issue of whether, on the facts of <u>Wood & Iverson</u>, the defendant was relieved from liability because of actions of the fire wardens, in which he actively and voluntarily joined and initiated. 140 Wash, 61, 248 P. 68 (1926).

The <u>Galbraith v. Wheeler-Osgood Co.</u> case also cited by Appellants is similarly unpersuasive. 123 Wash. 229, 212 P. 174 (1923). It involved an agreement between a state forester and the owner to remove a fire hazard by burning it. <u>Id.</u> at 232-233, 212 P. at 175. No agreement is

involved in this case to render the fire department and Kinch Farms joint actors in either conducting or suppressing the controlled burn (not only that, but there is also no mention of a "nondelegable" duty in <u>Galbraith</u>). See <u>Id</u>. Further, the case of <u>Galbraith</u> dealt with a completely different statute (a public nuisance law). See 123 Wash. at 175-76, 212 P. at 175. The statutes in this case, combined with the jury instructions, clearly outlined the law for the jury that it was Kinch Farms' responsibility to use reasonable care in the start and control of the fire.

4.

It is also unclear how could the <u>Babcock</u> case cited by Appellants possibly apply to the facts of their case. 169 Wash. 557, 12 P.2d 752. <u>Babcock</u> involved an argument between two state agencies as to whether a school district, a public corporation, is absolved from a duty to exercise ordinary care where another municipal corporation with jurisdiction, the City of Seattle, maintained a fire department for purposes of fire suppression. *See* 168 Wash. at 561-562, 12 P.2d at 561. Kinch Farms never argued to the jury that it was absolved from its duty to exercise ordinary care.

A nondelegable duty instruction was clearly inappropriate on the facts of this case: it would have confused the jury, it was unnecessary in

light of the standard negligence instructions, and it would have been prejudicial. Allowing testimony, on the other hand, as to what the fire department did, said, or believed needed to be done was clearly appropriate and necessary in establishing what a reasonable person would do and would not do under all the facts and circumstances.

G. Any Mistake Made By The Judge By Admitting Evidence Is Harmless Error.

An evidentiary ruling that is in error is not grounds for reversal. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Gregg Roofing, Inc., 178 Wn.App. 702, 728-29, 315 P.3d 1143, 1156 (2013). There must be a showing of prejudice. Id. Without prejudice, there can be no reversal. Id. "[I]mproper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is cumulative or of only minor significance in reference to the evidence as a whole." Hoskins v. Reich, 142 Wn.App. 557, 570, 174 P.3d 1250, 1256 (2008).

Here, any error made by the trial judge in admitting evidence was harmless. Plaintiff has demonstrated no prejudice; especially in light of the numerous pieces of evidence supporting that Kinch Farms acted reasonable at all times during August 10 and August 11.

Therefore, no reversal is warranted.

IV. CONCLUSION

This Court must deny the Plaintiffs' request for a reversal of a jury verdict. There was significant evidence presented at trial that Kinch Farms utilized reasonable care in starting, containing, and controlling the fire on August 10 and August 11, 2009. It is black letter law that merely because an accident occurred does not mean someone is liable. Hunsley v. Giard, 87 Wn.2d 424, 434, 553 P.2d 1096, 1102 (1976). No errors were committed by the trial court by admitting evidence concerning the DOE permit process and the fire department's actions.

Further, to the extent this Court finds that the trial court committed an error, any error was harmless.